

THE LONDON SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

Integrating Care in Health Systems The role of technology in transforming care pathways and achieving the Triple Aim

Alex Carter and Elias Mossialos (LSE); Pascal Candolfi and Andrea Rappagliosi (Edwards Lifesciences SA) June 2022





Front cover image by: Hilch

This report is commissioned via LSE Consulting which was set up by The London School of Economics and Political Science to enable and facilitate the application of its academic expertise and intellectual resources.

LSE Enterprise Ltd, trading as LSE Consulting, is a wholly owned subsidiary of the London School of Economics and Political Science. The LSE trademark is used under licence from the London School of Economics and Political Science.

LSE Consulting

LSE Enterprise Ltd London School of Economics and Political Science

Houghton Street London, WC2A 2AE

- **(T)** +44 (0)20 7106 1198
- (E) consulting@lse.ac.uk
- (W) Ise.ac.uk/consultancy



Table of Contents

Executive summary	5
Introduction	7
Rationale	9
1. Future directions for health policy and system organization	10
1.1 Global level trends	10
1.2 National or system level trends	12
1.2.1 Structural reforms	12
1.2.2 Payment reforms	14
1.2.3 Health Technology Assessment	15
1.2.4 Trends in workforce skill-mix	16
1.3 Provider level	17
1.3.1 Disease management programs	17
1.3.2 Medicines management	18
1.3.3 Medical device management	18
1.4 Patient level	19
1.4.1 Patient experience	19
1.4.2 Long-term care	19
1.4.3 Mental health	20
2. Advancing medical knowledge and product development	20
2.1.1 Care Information Exchanges	20
2.2 Genomics and biopharmaceuticals	21
2.3 Minimally invasive procedures and robotics	21
2.4 Artificial intelligence	24
2.4.1 Natural language processing	24
2.4.2 Predictive analytics & machine learning	25
2.4.3 Applications of Al	25
2.5 Precision medicine	25
2.5.1 Preventative health care	26
3. Summary and recommendations	27
References	29



List of Figures

Figure 1: Expected demographic change by 2100, a challenge for health systems.	7
Figure 2: The proportion of patients living with multiple disorders, by age group.	8
Figure 3: Mean per capita spending growth in European OECD countries, expressed in US dollars, adjusted to current prices using data expressed in purchasing power parities.	9
Figure 4: The Triple Aim in health systems: a central role for technology	11
Figure 5: The role of minimally invasive procedures in supporting integrated care efforts, the example of TAVI versus SAVR ⁹⁶ .	23
Figure 6: Schematic demonstrating the links between integrated care and health system goals.	28



Executive summary

Health systems face enormous challenges, many of which have been compounded by the coronavirus pandemic. To address the complexity that exists at all levels of these systems, it is increasingly important for multidisciplinary stakeholders to coordinate their efforts, be they in the public or private sectors. Increasingly, there is a trend towards closer collaboration between health system stewards, including policy makers, governments and global institutions, and health industry professionals. The potential for the latter to provide value-based solutions to the former is high if efforts are coordinated.

Integrated care is a central theme in contemporary health policy and industry collaboration is crucial for accelerating progress towards it. Integration should not be viewed as the destination, rather, it is an ongoing journey that health systems take to align services in a manner that is person- or patient-centric. A multitude of technologies exist to support integrated care efforts, with potential to lower per patient costs, improve patient experience, and raise population health. Reconfiguring and optimising care pathways is the central feature of integrated care. When thought of mechanistically, integrated care involves identifying current processes of care, including the labour and technology currently deployed, then redesigning these processes with superior technologies and organisational innovation. Technologies that foster connections between care settings, reduce delays in care, optimise the length of stay during episodes of care, and ensure the right care is given at the right place and at the right time, are needed to support these efforts. In turn, innovations that demonstrate short, medium, and long-term benefits to patients, payers, and providers are likely to be rewarded.

Waste is a central target for enhancing health system efficiency and, for this reason, the topic has received lots of attention in recent years. Research in this area is particularly necessary in the context of rising demand for health services, rising expenditure, and the need for cost containment. Wasteful practice has been categorised into six areas that include: failure of care delivery, failure of care coordination, overtreatment or low-value care, pricing failure, fraud and abuse, and administrative complexity¹. In the United States (US), wasteful practices are estimated to account for 25 percent of total health expenditure (Shrank et al. 2019)². This problem is not isolated to the US; in 2017, the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) estimated that up to a fifth of all health care spending could be redirected from wasteful activities, providing fiscal space for health systems to meet increasing demand without reducing coverage and overall performance³. The route to eliminating this waste involves incremental changes, based on strong data, according to Chalkidou and Appleby (2017)⁴. Evidence-based health technologies that provide value by reducing waste or improving efficiencies are central to the evolution of health systems.

The coronavirus pandemic appears to have exacerbated the problems that health systems face. Health workers' health and wellbeing has been severely tested (Hall et al. 2021; Mehta et al. 2021)^{5,6} and the long-term effects on capacity and resilience are yet to be evaluated. It is reasonable to expect significant challenges in repairing or maintaining the wellbeing, motivation, and capacity of health workers as the world moves beyond the immediate threat posed by the coronavirus. Health equity concerns have also been exacerbated, fuelling further debate about the role of wider social determinants of health in the production of healthier populations⁷.

Evidence suggests that digital health technologies will have an even larger role in health reforms and integrated care solutions in the years to come, although the extent to which this occurs, and the types of technologies that are adopted will depend on the evidence that emerges on their effectiveness and value in different settings⁸. Alongside these technologies, medical devices and drugs that demonstrate real-world effects not only in outcome domains, such as reduced readmission rates and length of stay, but also in process measures, such as improved patient experience, will cater to contemporary policy requirements and payer definitions of value that are enshrined in health technology assessment methods.

This report outlines the central themes governing efforts towards integrating care in Europe, considering the effects of the coronavirus pandemic. The drivers for integrated care are introduced, discussing how demographic changes and disease trends have shaped health system reforms. Simultaneously, care practices



evolve with technology, rapidly changing the interactions between populations and their providers. The report touches on growing innovation in biopharmaceuticals and minimally invasive technology which are revolutionizing treatment standards for common diseases. In addition, the report further discusses the role of digitisation with regards to patient experience, artificial intelligence, and precision medicine which are modernizing models of care. Other technologies promote better patient experience and satisfaction, which are linked with improved health outcomes, fewer adverse events, and less inefficiency. For instance, health care information exchanges allow patients to be involved in and knowledgeable about their medical care, virtual reality is allowing patients to better understand planned procedures, and user feedback systems allow care processes to adapt and improve based on patient experience.

Increasing availability of health data explains the most profound changes in medical practice. As such, the success of technologies depends on demonstrable, data-driven improvements in the coordination of care. The health workforce is under increasing scrutiny in the context of integrated care because new skill mixes are needed to achieve alignment, whilst managing the after-effects of the pandemic on the workforce. Most signals indicate that primary care will lead clinical services; however, evolution in payment models suggests that several stakeholders will be engaged in the delivery of integrated care services and much of their involvement will be driven by the incentives created by bundled and blended payments. In this context, medical technologies are more likely to be adopted if they show evidence-based benefits to many health system stakeholders.

As the market evolves across these dimensions so too have the regulatory conditions. The report points to the role of data in the changing regulatory environment, with recommendations about the type of indicators that firms need to use to convince payers or providers that their products can support their push for integrated care, thereby reducing health system waste and inefficiency. Minimally invasive procedures are used as an example of technology and organisational innovation in health care that align with integrated care efforts and the end goal(s) these serve.



Introduction

The global health market is rapidly changing and becoming increasingly complex. As medical science, public health and health systems evolve, the diseases that dominated human life such as neonatal disorders, diarrheal illness, tuberculosis, malaria, measles, and malnutrition are being replaced by a growing prevalence of non-communicable, chronic diseases including ischemic heart disease, stroke, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, dementia, and diabetes⁹. High-income countries experienced this evolution decades ago, but this shift is now occurring in low- and middle-income countries, many of which are projected to become the most populous centres on the globe by the year 2100¹⁰.

Consequently, global life expectancy has increased from 67 to 74 years between 2000 to 2019¹¹. With an aging demographic there is an associated increase in multi-morbidity whereby people have numerous chronic illnesses that each have their own multifaceted treatment pathways¹². Furthermore, multi-morbidity is expanding to younger age demographics as new conditions are identified, public health risk factors change, and disease screening programs improve. In addition to these pre-existing changes, globalisation is posing other unique challenges, such as the coronavirus pandemic and antimicrobial resistance, which add new layers of complexity.



Figure 1: Expected demographic change by 2100, a challenge for health systems.

The graphics in Figure 1 show the expectation for ageing populations and the gradual inversion of the population pyramid. Ageing populations are likely to place increasing demands on health systems, commensurate with the need to manage more conditions, for longer¹³.



In high-income countries, many age-related, non-communicable diseases remain the primary cause for national mortality, as they did 20 years ago, but their prevalence continues to increase due to increasing comorbidity¹². Now, elderly patients may have ischemic heart disease, prior strokes, diabetes, and chronic kidney disease. In addition, chronic illnesses such as musculoskeletal disorders, drug use disorders, headaches, osteoarthritis, and falls contribute an increasing proportion of morbidity (figure 2).



Figure 2: The proportion of patients living with multiple disorders, by age group.

The proportion of patients living with multiple disorders, by age group. Ageing is associated with an increase in the number of disorder that patients are likely to live with. This means that ageing populations are increasing demands on health systems as more intensive care is provided for multi-morbid patients, adding complexity to current treatment paradigms. Technology solutions that help to coordinate the multidisciplinary needs of patients and, separately and in addition, help to exercise preventive or curative interventions, are needed¹².

This scenario has created substantial demand-side pressure on health services, leading to increasing expenditure in high-income settings. Several factors explain expenditure growth, including demographic changes, financing mechanisms, household income, health care prices, and administration costs. However, technology is consistently found to be the single largest driver of expenditure growth in health systems¹⁴, which – among other factors – is why value-based health technologies are increasingly important around the World. After years of austerity since 2008, the COVID-19 pandemic has spurred growth in health expenditure in OECD countries (figure 3).



Figure 3: Mean per capita spending growth in European OECD countries, expressed in US dollars, adjusted to current prices using data expressed in purchasing power parities.



Per capita expenditure growth from 2010 to 2019 (shown by the red line) was US\$1,077. Missing data for 2020: Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Luxembourg, Slovak Republic, Spain, Switzerland, and Turkey. Source: OECD Health Statistics (2021).

Technology is a central piece to the evolution of our global health system, and it is changing how we understand and treat illnesses as well as organize and deliver health care. With the explosion of medical knowledge along with technological innovation and capacity it has been challenging to learn how best to integrate and adapt all this high-tech potential within the existing health care system. Each adaptation requires increasing specialization and human understanding thus requiring more individuals and unique steps in the delivery of health care. So, while technology is a critical solution to advancing our global health system, it is also the source of our medical system's growing complexities and can make it difficult to pinpoint where there is room for value creation.

Therefore, it is helpful to understand how the latest technology and innovative ideas are currently being applied at the various levels of the health system to identify where there is space for value creation and efficiency. This report will explore how the latest technologies, with a focus on cardiovascular care, are creating value and efficiencies at three key tiers of the health system: (1) health system policy and organization (the macro level), (2) health care delivery and practice (at the meso level), and (3) medical knowledge and product development (usually deployed at the micro or clinical level). Understanding the current direction of technological advancement may then provide a starting point for identifying innovative project ideas that solve health system gaps.

Rationale

This report aims to synthesise the latest evidence on integrated care, drawing on the various dimensions of policy making and research informing this transition in the delivery of care. The focus of the report is Europe, specifically, France, the UK, Germany, Spain, and Italy; however, North American resources are also referenced.

The report is designed to give a succinct summary of a vast literature that is relevant to this topic by characterising disease trends, socioeconomic trends, developments in the practice of care, changing workforce skills, and the evolving regulatory environment. These issues are principally viewed through the prism of cardiovascular disease, for which efforts to integrate care are most pressing given the burden this represents and that care management in this space tends to transcend several health provider settings and technology types.



1. Future directions for health policy and system organization

1.1 Global level trends

International public-private partnerships are a cornerstone for tackling emerging global health problems such as the coronavirus pandemic. These health problems do not abide by national borders, affecting all people, and therefore require a unified international approach. The intricacy and breadth of these problems necessitate bringing together expertise from different levels including governmental agencies, non-governmental organizations, large pharmaceutical and medical device firms, small-and-medium sized enterprises, and academic centres.

The coronavirus pandemic appears to have exacerbated the problems that health systems face, increasing the need for international cooperation. In particular, the pandemic has shone light on the health status of minority ethnic groups in society and the comorbidities that have at least partly driven higher mortality rates from coronavirus infection¹⁵. Elsewhere, technology that is not limited to mRNA vaccines has undoubtedly produced solutions to the pandemic. For instance, the expansion of telehealth services and digital solutions was largely celebrated early on^{16,17}. Evidence from oncology services suggests that access to care was improved with telecare, reducing the median time between patient referral and an initial visit to an oncology team by 1.5 days¹⁸. This example shows how technology can shape global health systems, improving their efficiency and therefore changing the status quo of health care when the need exists.

A valuable example of how public-private partnerships are being utilized is in the field of antibiotic research and development (R&D). Antimicrobial drugs have been a critical component to reducing morbidity and mortality from communicable infectious diseases, which once dominated the global burden of disease. However, growing antimicrobial resistance is mitigating the effectiveness of available antimicrobial drugs. If antimicrobial resistance continues to grow, current modelling suggests that by 2050 more people will die from drug resistant infections than from cancer¹⁹. Despite the need for new antimicrobials, the R&D pipeline for them is sparse due to longstanding economic disincentives, scientific challenges, and regulatory barriers. To overcome these barriers which were prohibitive to individual firms, several large public-private partnerships have been established that share human and scientific resources, investment cost, as well as financial risk. Examples of public-private partnerships include the international Combatting Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria Biopharmaceutical Accelerator (CARB-X), the EU's New Drugs for Bad Bugs (ND4BB) program, and the US's Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (BARDA). CARB-X has invested US\$361M in 92 different projects since it was established in 2016, ND4BB has a €700M fund split across seven core projects, and BARDA has an annual fund of approximately US\$180M¹⁹. These programs have made major strides in adding novel antibiotics to the development pipeline.

This example reiterates that innovative, value-added solutions may require public-private partnerships for implementation. At an individual firm level, development of antibiotics is not economically feasible, but given that antibiotics fill a major health care gap there is room for compromise and collaboration in reaching a solution that is financially worthwhile for the private firm and sensible from a governmental and health system perspective. As health system solutions become more niche and complex, there may be a need for more public-private partnerships to make innovative projects financially viable.

Similar efforts are taking place in the drive towards integrated care, whereby diverse stakeholders are increasingly finding incentives and other reasons to collaborate. Integrated care is a central part of health reforms around the World and the global trend is towards increasing efforts to achieve integration. The topic has received considerable attention from academics aiming to isolate the effects of integrated care and to identify optimal models, encompassing social and technical systems, which serve the needs of relevant populations. The definition of integrated care has been flexible in recent years, but it tends to encapsulate the notion of coordinated care that is seamless, continuous, and fosters patient satisfaction²⁰. The WHO defines integrated care as:



"An approach to strengthen people-centred health systems through the promotion of the comprehensive delivery of quality services across the life-course, designed according to the multidimensional needs of the population and the individual and delivered by a coordinated multidisciplinary team of providers working across settings and levels of care. Care should be effectively managed to ensure optimal outcomes and the appropriate use of resources based on the best available evidence, with feedback loops to continuously improve performance and to tackle upstream causes of ill health and to promote well-being through intersectoral and multisectoral actions."²¹

Integrated care should be viewed as an umbrella policy that aims to deliver people or patient-centric care that is highly coordinated and multidisciplinary. As such, integrated care can be achieved by reorganising existing systems at the macro, meso, and micro levels using policies or regulations, new processes of care delivery using the same or similar inputs, and by deploying novel products / technologies.

The pursuit and achievement of integrated care is a core strategy for the achievement of the Triple Aim, which encompasses improving population health, enhancing patients' experiences of care, and reducing costs per capita ²². The need for integrated care is growing for the reasons mentioned above, however realisations about the overuse and misuse of resources in health care are also driving these efforts.

These trends necessitate the production of more cohesive and better coordinated care delivery across all levels of health *and* social care. Moving forward, the exact configuration of integrated care systems is likely to evolve across several dimensions (e.g., financing, care pathways, technology, data sharing). Technologies that can reduce waste and/or improve efficiencies in the management of increasingly complex patient groups and enhance coordination will contribute directly to the Triple Aim.



Figure 4: The Triple Aim in health systems: a central role for technology



Integration is an overarching approach to achieving better health outcomes and better patient experience at a lower cost (the Triple Aim). Health equity is another essential objective for health systems, particularly in the post-pandemic environment. Integrated care is therefore the sum of three main intervention categories in health systems and, despite recent evidence, the expectation is that integration will lead to achievement of the Triple Aim. Technologies and products should demonstrate their contribution towards the Triple Aim using short-term, medium, and long-term outcomes; where relevant, products should demonstrate the ability to improve the coordination of care directly or indirectly. For example, more cost-effective curative products that simplify care pathways and reduce the burden of coordinating care between settings provides benefit to integrating care systems and the Triple Aim. This is likely to give a competitive advantage beyond a product's therapeutic and economic credentials. Transcatheter Aortic Value Implantation (TAVI) is one such procedure that can simplify care pathways by bypassing ICU admission, reducing hospital length of stay, reducing the need for rehabilitation, and improving outcomes, experience, and efficiency.

To this (evolving) end, there are guiding principles that health systems follow. Quality is a central concept that guides policy decisions and is rooted in Donabedian's "Seven Pillars"²³. Kruk *et al.* stated that high-quality care "involves thorough assessment, detection of asymptomatic and co-existing conditions, accurate diagnosis, appropriate and timely treatment, referral when needed for hospital care and surgery, and the ability to follow the patient and adjust the treatment course as needed." To achieve this, health systems must invest in short, medium, and long-term strategies that facilitate the production of high-quality care, thereby facilitating the production of health, fair financing, efficiency, and responsiveness to changing needs²⁴.

The integration of various components of the system relies on more than guiding principles, however. For instance, quality data are needed to inform stakeholders of gaps in health needs and closely aligned to this, patient experience. Therein, gaps in service needs and resources can be addressed. This relates to identifying the medical equipment required (capital) and workforce volume and skill-mix (labour) that must be purchased using value-based methods. National research programs are funding this research, such as the Department of Health and Social Care²⁵ and NIHR²⁶ in the UK. As such, stakeholders working towards integrated care must be aware of the evolving regulatory environment in which decisions are made, including methods for conducting Health Technology Assessment (HTA) and economic evaluation of alternative medical devices, drugs, and providers.

In summary, there are various lenses through which attempts to strengthen health systems are made. This creates complexity for stakeholders trying to pinpoint their short, medium, and long-term objectives. Currently, there are two major frameworks that describe the objectives of health systems, those given by the WHO's "building blocks"²⁷ and those more typically referenced for developed health systems as captured by the Triple Aim²². Integrated care and quality improvement are two major Global approaches to achieving these aims. Integrated care through system and organisational restructuring or redesign is itself a complex endeavour needing evidence-based solutions. Fortunately, the evidence base is expanding, providing insight into what to do and what not to do to achieve integration. For example, in the last five years, an average of 181 peerreviewed articles on integrated care were published per year (PubMed, title search), whilst for the five years preceding this period i.e., 2010 to 2014, this number was 81 per year. This shows that interest in integrated care is growing and the body of evidence available to inform private and public stakeholders is substantial.

1.2 National or system level trends

1.2.1 Structural reforms

NHS England and other UK health systems have implemented several structural reforms aimed at achieving integration²⁸. Structural reform involves the introduction of local partnerships and collaborations that are, in effect, seeds for systemic change. Therefore, Strategic Transformation Partnerships (STPs) were organised at the local level with government and NHS funding that was made available on a competitive basis; this involved awarding funds to "vanguard" sites who developed innovative STP proposals for consideration by NHS England. These developments provided a signal to private firms that integration was being funded



centrally and that an opportunity to collaboration with the public sector had emerged. Similar signals should be identified in other European jurisdictions so that products that could potentially contribute to local or regional integration goals are introduced to providers and payers in a timely manner and with compelling value propositions.

The effects of these reforms in England remain difficult to isolate, although some positive results seem to converge, such as those by Morciano *et al.* (2021) and Keeble *et al.* (2019)²⁵. Keeble *et al.* reported an attenuation in the rate of emergency admissions growth for the STP pioneers of integrated care in England (a 1.93% rate of admission versus 4.84% for non-STPs). Both articles provided a similar analysis using the same dataset, albeit for different time periods; Keeble *et al.* used 2010 to 2013 as their baseline period with a follow up to 2016. Morciano *et al.* followed cohorts up to 2018 and reported a significant *net* reduction in emergency admissions of 3.1% point at the third year of integrated care implementation versus non-integrating regions.

On the other hand, a very recent article by Stokes *et al.* (2021), provided negative findings about the effects of integrating care in England, using indicators for patient experience, cost, and health improvement (those that mirror the Triple Aim). When comparing risk-adjusted outcomes for two vanguard STP sites with the rest of England for three years, the cost per capita of secondary care increased, and population health status and patient experience measures did not differ to non-integrating regions²⁹. The findings could suggest, once more, that the effects of integrated care may take years to mature into positive findings, assuming these are likely. These findings are highly generalised, representing averaged data rather than specific outcomes from the various components that are integrating care, such as specific technologies. The extent to which products or processes have reduced costs, enhanced patient experience and improved outcomes in this area of policy is unclear, which suggests that there is an opportunity for impact at this level to be articulated as evidence matures.

A central consideration for the English vanguard proposals was the implementation of electronic medical records, such that NHS Trusts were expected to go "paperless". The effectiveness of these efforts has been extensively investigated and documented by health service researchers. For instance, Cresswell et al. 2017³⁰ investigated NHS providers' experiences with integrated digital systems as part of this effort and found a different set of risks associated with the use of multimodal versus standalone ePrescribing systems. Standalone systems are described as software platforms that are designed for a single purpose but can communicate with existing electronic records. In this context, these systems were found to offer more opportunities for providers to innovate as they offer greater flexibility, which was seen as advantageous by informatics experts who were participants in this research, citing lower risks to patient safety. This topical research shows the competing issues that providers must navigate when integrating digital systems, which is a prerequisite for effective integrated care. It also points to the design requirements that health technology firms must anticipate when proposing products that can support integrated care efforts. The need for flexibility and adaptability in the development of integrated care systems was also evidenced by Looman et al. (2021)³¹, who identified drivers of successful implementation of integrated care in European countries. The authors found that successful systems tend to adopt an incremental growth model rather than disruptive innovation(s) and they find a balance between flexibility and formal structures of integration. This lends further insight into how technologies cannot be overly disruptive to current models of care in the short-term, largely because disruption can worsen immediate demand-side pressures. Therefore, close collaboration and sympathetic deployment of value-based technologies is likely to lead to longer-term term success for both private and public stakeholders.

Having followed years of trials and tribulations with the deployment of digital infrastructure, the NHS in England is now able to pivot to exploit the new capital and to harmonise patient pathways across health and social care. Investment in the NHS during the coronavirus pandemic is likely to have consolidated this infrastructure, although the destination of the unprecedented spending on the NHS in 2020 / 21 is yet to be fully accounted for in the wider context of health reform. A similar scenario can be expected for other European health systems³².



The emergence of health systems from the coronavirus pandemic has changed the conditions in which health services are being provided. Digital products and data sharing expanded during the pandemic, demonstrating higher levels of care coordination than before the crisis; this is integration. More importantly, backlogs or waiting lists for services have increased significantly. For instance, Mohammed et al. found that over 45,000 cardiac procedures were not performed in England due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, many common cardiac procedures, such as coronary catheterization, percutaneous ablation, septal defect repairs, and care device implantations, performed during the COVID-era experience higher 30-day mortality rates compared to the preceding pre-pandemic years³³. The reduced number of procedures and higher mortality may be due to a combination of procedural backlogs due to reduced service capacity, but also patients delaying or forgoing their presentation to hospital out of pandemic-related fear. Blecker et al. discovered that there was a significant decrease in the number of non-COVID hospitalizations during peak of the COVID pandemic in early 2020 for common medical ailments such as myocardial infarction, heart failure, septicaemia, stroke, COPD, and abdominal infections³⁴. Backlogs and health care avoidance exemplify a reduction in health care access that perpetuates health inequities and further inefficiency.

We can characterise these inefficiencies in a Welfarist sense, which views untreated diseases or ailments as a welfare loss to society, which we can estimate in terms of an accrual of Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) or a loss of Quality-Adjusted Life Years (QALYs). The sooner backlogs can be reduced to prepandemic levels (and beyond), the more Welfare can be attained. *Time* is of the essence because the longer that the population lives with a condition, the larger the proportion of population life years are spent in disability. In another dimension, the better an intervention can improve the *state* of disease (or health) as compared to alternative interventions determines the aggregate gains in Welfare. As an example, minimally invasive technologies have demonstrated benefits in terms of reduced time spent with a condition and improvements in health status. Now, more than ever, whilst exploiting improvements in care coordination, these types of technologies are needed to reduce backlogs in care caused by pandemic-related care avoidance, waiting time growth, and delays caused by patients' coronavirus status³⁵.

1.2.2 Payment reforms

Bundled payments are considered an essential approach for incentivising providers to align services. Whereas initial lump-sums are necessary to develop infrastructure that can facilitate service alignment, in the long-term, these systems must also be available to monitor care costs to multiple stakeholders; this is a prerequisite for setting prices and reimbursement that incentivises service alignment and improvements in the quality of patient care. In a recent literature review by Feldhaus and Mathauer (2018)³⁶, which identified 37 eligible articles, 74% of these were from the US and reported that bundled payment led to improved efficiency and cost savings, demonstrated by reductions of between 9.4 and 13.4 percent in emergency department visits, admissions, and CT scans. In a more recent analysis performed by the Commonwealth Fund³⁷, in high-income settings there are currently 23 bundled payment initiatives, 15 of which are based in the US. Most initiatives in the US are condition-specific, including either maternity care, orthopaedics, oncology, cardiovascular care, respiratory care, and some mental health disorders such as attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Elsewhere, Taiwan, Denmark, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Portugal, Sweden, and England have bundled payment for health and social care was introduced in 2012 for multiple conditions ³⁷.

More specifically, in the Netherlands, a payment reform was introduced into primary care to improve patientcentredness by incentivising provider behaviour. General practitioners are paid a global amount based on the population (mix and size) they serve and other contractual parameters, but there is a second component to their payment which is shaped by quality indicators. This is called the "shared savings program" in which GP networks can agree to take responsibility for all patient expenditures (across the full continuum of care – including services by out-of-network providers). If the GP outperforms their benchmark group in these indicators (and their spending) they shall receive a share of the savings achieved, contingent on the performance of care activities which are measured using a scoring system. Quality indicators informing this score are defined by chronic conditions, including COPD, diabetes, patient satisfaction, guideline-indicated



prescription drug use and measurement is based on the percentage of patients who use care. Patient satisfaction scores are measured on a 10-point scale with patients responding to statements asking them to rate, for example, "the ease with which you could make an appointment"³⁸. Initial evidence suggests that this scheme has reduced per patient expenditure, with no impact on patient satisfaction and unclear effects on the achievement of care activities, such as prescription drug use³⁸.

The ideas behind this payment scheme are not new. The payment and contract design, including the quality indicators used to incentivise care and payment via savings is novel. The unforeseen consequences of this payment method are yet to be seen, but experience elsewhere suggests that these need to be monitored³⁹; for instance, the impact of the scheme on vulnerable patient groups whose care is not directly incentivised should be evaluated. This is a consequence of ongoing development of bundled payment schemes in the Netherlands despite early evidence suggesting cost growth to insurers of between 13 and 52 percent in diabetes care, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and vascular risk management between 2008 and 2015. Notably, cost increases from the use of bundled payments were found to be higher for those with multimorbidity ⁴⁰. In another dimension of the Triple Aim, recent evidence from Sweden finds that bundled payments also had no statistically significant effect on a range of patient reported outcome measures one and six years after hip replacement surgery (an effective study period of 2008 to 2018); however, for some of the measures there were positive, albeit insignificant effects on patient reported outcome measures. ⁴¹ These types of reform are instrumental to driving health systems towards integrated care, but the precise mix of incentives required to achieve pre-determined objectives depends strongly on context. Multi-morbid patients seem to be a particular challenge in the design of bundled payment schemes, albeit not the only one⁴². This area of national payment policy is likely to continue to evolve towards more sophisticated and effective models of payment. Products that can help contain costs in the conditions and settings for which bundled payments are designed to improve care and likely to be increasingly interesting to providers.

The potential of mixed payment models as a means of achieving integrated care is echoed in the recent article by Looman *et al.* (2021)³¹. Of the drivers of successful implementation of integrated care, under the financing domain, long-term funding with a mix of innovative payment methods was found to be a driver of successful role out of bundled payments. Payment methods are therefore an essential means of defragmenting health and social care provision and long-term funding commitments by payers to these models of payment are a signal of both intent and likely success. Taken alongside the evidence on the effects of integrated care, long-term funding that is not compromised by annual budget cycles appears to be essential to create incremental transformation from uncoordinated, fragmented systems into integrated care systems. Once implemented, the effects on long-term outcomes may then be realised, but this evidence is yet to emerge strongly.

1.2.3 Health Technology Assessment

According to the newest definition by O'Rourke et al.,

"HTA is a multidisciplinary process that uses explicit methods to determine the value of a health technology at different points in its lifecycle. The purpose is to inform decision-making in order to promote an equitable, efficient, and high-quality health system⁴³"

Clinical and economic evaluations are major inputs to an HTA, but these methods do not capture wider normative aspects of value that are formalised using HTA. For instance, HTA might not include implementation evidence that can reduce disruption in the deployment of a new product, although promising examples have recently emerged as relates to economic evaluation. Dopp et al. provided three case studies in which the financial barriers to implementing evidence-based practices were overcome using implementation research; one of these involved scaling [the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services'] Oncology Care Model– a payment reform in oncology care – using multi-stakeholder input to increase uptake of the model, which is an evidence-based approach to reducing cost and improving quality⁴⁴.

Across Europe, regulatory efforts in recent years can be characterised as activities intended to harmonise data and methods, to increase the routine use of HTA in the purchasing of products and services. A core component



of HTA is economic evaluation, which involves modelling the expected costs and benefits or utilities associated with alternative strategies for achieving the same health outcome. However, the methods are much more expansive and include evidence synthesis, quality appraisal, comparative effectiveness research, and budget impact analysis, all of which are weaved together to assess a decision to adopt and / or reimburse technology. The organisation of care pathways, including the organisation of staff or labour, and policies for integrating patient experience into value-based decision making are major challenges for European institutions. To navigate the various challenges associated with introducing new products into care pathways, the current configuration of these pathways needs to be visualised. A detailed understanding of the patient journey and their experience of care is developed using process mapping, which is essential for the effective implementation of promising products. Process mapping coincides with the suite of methods encapsulated by HTA and there is increasing evidence that this is essential in quality improvement and, by extension, integrated care⁴⁵.

From a regulatory perspective, there is increasing interest in HTA. The harmonization of methodological and legal frameworks in Europe signals new opportunities for innovative medicines and devices to be evaluated and considered for reimbursement across markets. The "Regulation on Health Technology Assessment" is a recent output of the European Pharmaceutical Strategy, which intends to improve patient access to innovative technologies by consolidating HTA efforts under common European funding and using harmonised methods. This should lead to less duplication of analytical effort and faster access to beneficial care. To achieve this, EUnetHTA's Joint Action 3 consultation is a concrete example of regulatory developments coinciding with methodological ones to produce new standards and clarity around the use of HTA in Europe⁴⁶.

In HTA, value is assessed across various dimensions that would not be considered traditional to an economic evaluation, but increasingly fold into the methods that encompass HTA. For instance, process evaluations have a growing role in identifying the current pathways of care through which multi-morbid patients transition through. A promising intervention in this realm is virtual reality and simulation of care scenarios that can be used to immerse patients in their procedures before they take place ⁴⁷. This extends to giving patients experiential insight about treatment options before they choose, which could be a core strategy for improving patient experience and satisfaction. Similarly, recent evidence suggests that patients who are engaged in their care through interactive learning using health information technology have better satisfaction with their care⁴⁸. The benefits from patient participation extend beyond better patient feedback; importantly, better clinical outcomes, such as few adverse events, are associated with patient participation ^{49,50}. Multicriteria decision analysis also has an increasing role in providing evidence to inform decisions using multiple stakeholder views, including those of citizens and patients⁵¹. As such, increasingly, scientific methods are being deployed to inform decision making, with greater influence from patients in those decisions.

1.2.4 Trends in workforce skill-mix

As health care demand and costs balloon while physician supply shrinks, there is a growing trend for classically physician-only responsibilities to be delegated to non-physician advanced practice professions such as nurse practitioners (NP), physician assistants (PA), and nurse anaesthetists. There is a growing supply of these health professionals and they cost health care systems a fraction of the cost of physicians. Additionally, the need for solutions to wider labour shortages, such as the supply of registered nurses, suggests that labour-saving technologies can play a vital role in addressing concerns about patients accessing care.

A 2015 study found that the rate of growth of advanced practice clinicians such as NPs and PAs was 73.8% from 2007 to 2013, compared to 34.3% growth of physicians⁵². It is estimated that allowing NPs and PAs to prescribe controlled substances reduces outpatient care costs in the range of 11.8 to 16.0%⁵². This decrease in cost does not seem to be associated with increased requirements for care. This change is also occurring in operating rooms, with a growing number of hospitals employing certified nurse anaesthetists and anaesthesia assistants to provide and monitor intraoperative anaesthesia while a single anaesthesiologist oversees several operating rooms^{53,54}. The workforce mix in Europe is difficult to estimate, but OECD data indicates that the number of professionally active nurses has remained constant since 2010, at around 9.8 nurses per 1000



population. According to figures from the European Labour Authority, despite an initial fall in the number of health care worker vacancies since the second quarter of 2019, by the second quarter of 2021 vacancies had increased by 36%. In this same period, of all occupations, nursing ranked as that with the most severe shortage of labour, suggesting that pre-pandemic labour conditions were worsened by the event⁵⁵. Expanding on this point, according to a recent study, nurse responsibilities expanded since 2010 with eight countries authorising nurse prescribing, including Finland, the Netherlands, Cyprus, Estonia, Poland, Spain, France, and Switzerland (Vaud only).⁵⁶ This suggests that demands on health care workers have grown and the coronavirus pandemic may have exacerbated the effect of these on worker recruitment and retention.

The WHO's State of the World's Nursing 2020 report found that nurses make up approximately 59% of the health profession workforce. The WHO estimates that there is a global shortage of 5.9 million nurses, most of which is concentrated in LMICs⁵⁷. The strains on the nursing profession are further being exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. A 2021 survey led by the American Association of Critical Care Nurses of over 6,000 US registered nurses found that 92% of respondents believe that their hospitals have been depleted of nurses due to the pandemic and that their career will be shorter than they intended. A further 66% of nurses believe their work experiences during the pandemic have caused them to consider leaving the profession⁵⁸. These insights may signal further workforce shortages in future.

1.3 Provider level

Care provision at the meso / provider level is strongly influenced by efforts to integrate care between care settings, including primary, community, secondary, and tertiary care. Key aspects in the development of provider level care models are summarised below, indicating trends towards care pathway optimisation within hospital settings, increasingly into the community, and the use of innovative devices that support both hospital and community management of complex multi-morbid patients.

1.3.1 Disease management programs

Disease management programs (DMP) were and continue to be used as a means of aligning the care needs of home care patients with chronic disease; the strategy has been focused on care pathways rather than the whole system. First deployed nearly 20 years ago in Germany, the development of these programs has been usurped by "integrated care" as a more prominent strategy with newer, expansive terminology. Nonetheless, the industry sector remains increasingly actively involved in the development of disease management programs and care pathways that include the use of their products. In the UK, integrated care systems were introduced as a focal point of policy in the 2015 "Long Term Plan" by NHS England. Integrated care systems remain at the centre of efforts to reform the NHS here with the intention of bringing NHS providers and commissioners of health and social care into closer collaboration. In 2016, a scheme known as Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships was launched as a means of growing local partnerships across England. These partnerships are now formally referred to as Integrated Care Systems, although the extent to which their objectives have been met is unclear. A significant recent development for ICSs in the UK is an increase in social insurance contributions to fund social care. This development intends to strengthen the foundation for managing chronic diseases across the traditional structures of the NHS and now, social care providers.

In a recent study by Simcoe, Catillon and Gertler (2019)⁵⁹, in one US health maintenance organisation, a diabetes disease management program was found to improve health outcomes and costs. The study controls for confounders (such as voluntary disease management program enrolment) by using a difference-indifference design and found that earlier HbA1c monitoring is associated with better health outcomes and cost reductions. Moreover, the effect of enrolment on health outcomes and costs was observed within one or two quarters. This is evidence of the positive effect of disease management programs. Recent evidence supports the effectiveness of DMPs, using different outcomes; in their working paper, Ugolini *et al.* (2020)⁶⁰ report that general practitioner involvement in diabetes care planning improves patient compliance to prescribed actions in Italy and, in France, adherence to follow up medical care in diabetes patients is associated with a reduction



in patients' long-term hospital admissions (Bussiere *et al.* 2020)⁶¹. This suggests that there remains an important role for DMP, but the deployment of these programs will have to account for multiple disease pathways that are likely to interact in increasingly integrated systems.

1.3.2 Medicines management

As multi-morbid patients become more prevalent in the population so too does the intensity of therapy that they receive. Drugs are a mainstay of therapies for most diseases and expenditure on medications represents approximately 16 percent of total health expenditure in OECD countries. Since 2015, per capita expenditure on pharmaceuticals in France, Germany, Spain, the UK, and Italy has grown, which is a trend reversal on the period following the financial crisis of 2008/9. Amidst this return to pharmaceutical spending, polypharmacy remains a concern. This refers to multi-morbid patients who take at least five medications daily, according to a recent systematic review that explored the definitions applied in recent research⁶². As such, as a larger proportion of the population becomes multi-morbid, prescription drug volume and expenditure are expected to rise. This poses a challenge to health systems seeking to contain drug expenditure and those costs incurred from adverse drug reactions⁶³. In one of these dimensions, generic substitution policies remain a favourable option to contain rising drug costs.

Quality care, which encompasses patient safety, also encompasses the management of medicines. Various strategies have been employed by health systems to address the concomitant risks that polypharmacy poses. These risks include suboptimal compliance or adherence to dosing, drug-drug interactions that may be harmful or reduce therapeutic effects, and financial hardship to citizens. A recent systematic review of North American and European guidelines for managing complex polypharmacy patients, which included a formal quality appraisal of guidelines in the UK, Germany, the US, Mexico, and the Netherlands, derived novel recommendations for managing these high-risk patients (Muth *et al.* 2019)⁶⁴. The article demonstrates the breadth of decision making that should be considered, which now includes guidance across both clinical and self-management dimensions of care. As such, contemporary guidelines for managing multi-morbid patients put greater emphasis on providers' role in supporting patients' self-management by, among other approaches, participating in shared decisions. The authors recognise that geriatrics, mental health, and primary care sectors are generally better organised to manage multi-morbid and polypharmacy patients; this leaves many other sectors of the health system, including many diseases, which are currently poorly organised to implement the best care practices contained in the guideline review.

The biopharmaceutical market has responded to these challenges by offering health systems alternatives that circumvent many of the challenges posed by polypharmacy. A prominent, topical example is that of inclisiran, which is a small-interfering RNA lipoprotein cholesterol lowering drug that is administered twice a year to reduce cholesterol by approximately 50% in high-cholesterol, at-risk patients⁶⁵. This innovation mitigates the need for daily statins and therefore reduces associated compliance / adherence issues. The adoption of this alternative relies on a vaccine-based approach to the reduction of cholesterol, which could result in downstream benefits such as alleviating demand for primary care or fewer hospital admissions for acute cardiovascular diseases such as stroke and heart attacks.

1.3.3 Medical device management

Medical devices provide an increasingly significant role as preventive and curative interventions. In cardiovascular care, the heart failure (HF) epidemic points to the need for technology solutions that can help manage the care of this growing patient group.⁶⁶ Of all conditions, heart failure is of particular significance because most patients present with multi-morbidities and this worsens with age⁶⁷; Chamberlain *et al.* found that 86 percent of all HF patients presented with a least two comorbidities and hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and arrhythmias were the most prevalent chronic conditions⁶⁸.

Multidisciplinary efforts are needed to manage these complex patients, therefore solutions that foster integrated care between primary, community, and secondary care settings are necessary. Currently, efforts to



relieve pressures rely on medicines and secondary care interventions. Left-Ventricular Assist Devices play a prominent role in the management of HF patients, particularly those in an advanced stage of disease and who are transplant ineligible. Although since discontinued, evidence on the cost-utility of the HeartWare[™]HVAD[™] by Medtronic in England suggests that these devices are cost-effective versus standard of care (optimal medical management) at a willingness-to-pay threshold of £50,000 per QALY⁶⁹. The threshold is higher for LVADs for advanced HF patients because they fall into the end-of-life care designation.

Although Schueler *et al.*⁶⁹ found that the Medtronic device is cost-effective, an earlier systematic review reported that most LVADs are not cost-effective in the base case analysis⁷⁰. Probabilistic sensitivity analyses tend to show that these devices can be cost effective, but this only highlights the uncertainty associated with value assessments in this space. As such, the reimbursement of these devices and related technologies by payers requires careful development of financial and economic data by firms. Economic evaluations show how demand-side pressure is reduced not simply in secondary or tertiary care settings, but also in the primary care settings where multi-morbidities associated with HF are most frequently managed.

1.4 Patient level

1.4.1 Patient experience

Patient experience and patient satisfaction are related concepts that are of increasing importance in discussions about integrated care; it is a core part of the Triple Aim and must be considered by providers and firms. Technically, satisfaction is a product of initial patient expectations; therefore, patient expectations must be studied before an assessment of their satisfaction can be ascertained. Recent evidence suggests that by involving patients in the development, implementation, and evaluative methods for care pathways, improvements across various dimensions of quality are observed, including better psychology and physical outcomes, quality of life, satisfaction, continuity in care, and the feeling of empowerment⁷¹.

All these considerations are pertinent to stakeholders developing integrated care because patient perspectives are increasingly recognised as key to improving the legitimacy, experience and overall quality of care patients receive. Evidence on patient and public involvement in product evaluations is scarce, with only one study identified in a recent systematic review reporting that 45 percent of all novel, feasible, and implementable ideas in the primary care setting were sourced by public participants⁷². Despite this scarcity, patient and public involvement is a user-centred trend in developed health systems that is likely to grow with integrated care. As such, knowing the user (the patient) is key and survey methods are central to understanding user preferences. In a recent evidence synthesis using survey results and stakeholder perspectives, users are seeking reducing length of hospital stays, shorter recovery times, less invasive procedures, fewer complications, and longevity in their care products and in the results from their procedures⁷³. An applied example of this is a 2015 study of patient-defined goals for treatment of severe aortic stenosis which found that patients' preferred outcomes tended to focus on independence, longevity, minimizing symptoms, and facilitating ongoing participation in a specific activity or hobby. Understanding what patients' health and life goals are can then be used to select the most appropriate treatment option for severe aortic stenosis which can range from medical management to minimally invasive transcatheter aortic valve implantation to surgical treatment with surgical aortic valve repair.

1.4.2 Long-term care

Due to an aging population, increased prevalence of dementia, and more complex comorbidities, a growing portion of health care spending is being directed towards long term care. This includes medical and nursing care, personal care, and assistance services for people dependent on others for activities of daily living. Most long term care services are provided through residential facilities such as nursing homes, while the remainder is offered through hospitals, home care programs, social providers, and patient families. According to an OECD report, on average 1.5% of GDP was spent on long term care services in 2018⁷⁴. Long term care funding has



grown significantly over the last 15 years and is now outpacing growth in overall health care spending in many OECD countries.

Evidence is emerging that the cost of long term care may be controlled by better integration, as was recently shown in the English study by Morciano *et al.* (2021) which was a difference-in-difference analysis of hospital admissions before and after regional integration²⁸. The study found a significant absolute reduction in emergency admissions for adult and elderly care patients (although not for younger ones) of 3.3% and 3.7% respectively, at the third year after implementation (but not before) compared to non-integrating sites. This shows the potential of integrated care to reduce hospital resource use associated with long-term elderly care, which is a particular concern in the post-coronavirus context.

1.4.3 Mental health

It is estimated that one billion people suffer from some form of mental health disorder. In 2010 the economic cost of mental health was estimated to be approximately \$2.5 trillion per year due lost productivity and poor health⁷⁵. The cost is expected to balloon to \$6 trillion by 2030. While there is a growing recognition of the prevalence as well as health and economic impact of mental health disorders, countries typically spend only a fraction of their health budget on these illnesses. The coronavirus pandemic has exacerbated the need for access to mental health treatment⁷⁶ and, yet, estimates indicate that for every US\$1 spent on mental health care, US\$4 are returned to health systems⁷⁵. This suggests that products that support patients' mental health needs, alongside their physical and social needs, are an attractive investment for payers.

2. Advancing medical knowledge and product development

There are so many new health technologies that are constantly emerging from several sectors, and with a multitude of applications to health care. The technology landscape is often characterised as rapidly changing, which occurs in parallel to the evolution of disease, reforms to structures tasked with ameliorating the effects of disease in populations, and wider changes in societal expectations. In short, advancing medical knowledge breeds new technologies that fit (better or worse) to a perpetually complex system. Lags between the emergence of technologies, their routine adoption, and the evaluation of them mean that at any point in time, we must contend with imperfect information. However, some health technologies align to wider themes and objectives, creating some signals as to their utility to health systems today and into the future. This utility is invariably linked to health systems goals, including sustainability considering well-documented demographic and health trends.

2.1.1 Care Information Exchanges

Technology is key to achieving integrated care, but it should not be considered the sole solution. Systems thinkers in health and social care tend to refer to sociotechnical systems as being a central construct of health systems⁷⁷. This means that both technology users and patients' experiences should be integrated into technology design. Telemedicine is one area of user-centred technology design for which recent evidence is positive ^{78,79}. Underpinning the success of these technologies are electronic health records, which are increasingly incorporating sociotechnical aspects into their design. The initial linking of electronic health records between providers has been central to health system integration, as previously mentioned. Now, care information exchanges are being introduced as a means of providing direct access for patients to their medical information, ensuring it is accurate and up to date for every health care transaction. A recent study by Everson and Butler (2020)⁸⁰ suggests that care information exchanges work best in a hospital context if multiple technological tools (including secure messaging, provider portals, and use of a health information exchange portal) are used to access and integrate patient information.

Whereas care information exchanges have lagged behind progress made in other aspects of health information technology, their role in integrating health systems is becoming increasingly important. These



exchanges have the potential to gather essential data from patients about their experience and satisfaction with providers. They can reduce information failures in the delivery of care to reduce patient harm and foster patient safety, whilst collecting long-term outcomes data, such as quality of life after receiving treatment(s). In a recent systematic review, care information exchanges were effective at improving diabetes care, as measured by a mean HbA1c reduction (across articles) of 0.405 percent⁸¹. This is an important development in the literature because HbA1c levels are a major mortality predictor and few studies have associated information exchanges to clinical outcomes in this way.

2.2 Genomics and biopharmaceuticals

The future of pharmaceutical development is trending towards more precise disruption of specific pathological processes by using genomics to tag and/or target therapies. Key examples of this precise biotechnology are mRNA vaccines, bacteriophages, monoclonal antibodies, and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell (CAR-T) therapy.

In the field of antibiotic R&D, the scientific challenges with developing truly novel antibacterial drugs forced developers to look at other agents to treat antibiotic-resistant infections. These include novel products such as immunotherapeutics, bacteriophages, lysins, prebiotics and probiotics, and peptides. Of these, bacteriophage therapy is likely the most heavily researched and involves harnessing the power of phage viruses, which only invade and infect bacterial cells. Like mRNA vaccines, bacteriophages capitalize on our understanding of the genetic sequencing of target pathogens so that they can be sought out and destroyed while preserving human cells. Key barriers to progressing this technology include scientific challenges with product formulation for clinical use and mitigating the risk of propagating bacterial resistance⁸².

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are a type of biologic therapy where antibodies are manufactured to bind to a specific cellular target that can produce various molecular functions such as apoptosis, block signalling pathways, or induce signalling pathways. Monoclonal antibodies are now commonly used in treatment of a wide variety of cancers and autoimmune conditions. This past year the FDA approved the 100th mAb product, which reflects the exponential growth of this novel technology⁸³. In the field of cardiology, Abciximab is mAb that functions to" disrupt atherosclerotic plaque, thrombus formation, and platelet aggregation by binding glycoprotein IIb/IIIa, vitronectin, and Mac-1 receptor.⁸⁴ However, Abciximab is not readily available and has been discontinued in the US. Evolocumab and alirocumab are anti-PCSK9 mAbs that are designed to treat hyperlipidaemia and particularly used as second-line treatment for familial hypercholesterolemia.

Research into mAbs laid the ground for development of CAR-T therapy which isolates an individual's T-cells, genetically modifies them to express a receptor that targets a unique tumour antigen, and then infuses the product into a patient with that tumour. The CAR-T cells then target and destroy the tumour cells through a variety of molecular mechanisms. The first CAR-T therapy was approved by the FDA in 2017 and now there are five approved therapies, which are primarily used in the treatment of lymphoma and other hematologic malignancies. There is emerging research examining the role for CAR-T in treatment of refractory lupus as well as post-transplant immune conditions⁸⁵.

2.3 Minimally invasive procedures and robotics

Minimally invasive procedures are a growing field within medicine whereby operations are completed using innovative equipment and surgical techniques that minimize disruption to the body's tissues. The result is smaller incisions, less damage to tissue, and reduced blood loss leading to faster recovery and often fewer complications than traditional open surgical methods.

The field of cardiology has been an early adopter of this technology with the use of percutaneous coronary intervention for stenting, ablation procedures, valve replacement and repairs, and endovascular repairs. These procedures are quickly becoming the gold standard for treatment of a wide variety of cardiac disease and are resulting in shorter hospital admissions, faster recovery periods, as well as fewer complications, which all



address user preferences for care and outcomes⁷³. This field continues to progress as technologies are refined to allow for more challenging approaches such as transcatheter tricuspid valve interventions (e.g., minimally invasive annuloplasty and transcatheter valve replacements) and transcatheter pulmonic valve replacements⁸⁶.

Positive evidence continues to be produced, for instance, transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) is highly likely to be cost-effective relative to surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) in Singapore for intermediate to low risk aortic stenosis patients with a baseline ICER (of approximately S\$34,000 per QALY) that is most sensitive to the cost of performing transfemoral TAVI operations⁸⁷. Whilst TAVI may be a more expensive procedure to perform, the cost of complications in SAVR and longer length of stay lead to, on average, higher inpatient costs according to Ando *et al.* (2019)⁸⁸. In France, these favourable findings have been emulated using the SAPIEN 3 device with severe aortic stenosis patients where TAVI is both cost saving ($\in 12,742$ per patient in the base case analysis) and leads to more QALYs over a 30-year time horizon. This finding is at least 80% likely across all willingness to pay thresholds⁸⁹. A similar finding has been reported for Italy, where TAVI with the SAPIEN 3 device was found to be cost-effective with a cost per QALY gained of $\in 2,989$, which was robust across several scenarios. At a willingness to pay threshold of $\in 30,000/QALY$ or above, TAVI with SAPIEN 3 was cost-effective compared with SAVR in 100% of probabilistic simulations⁹⁰.

This contemporary view of TAVI versus SAVR shows a significant evolution in the TAVI evidence. For instance, in Italy, the cost-effectiveness of TAVI in aortic stenosis was evaluated for inoperable, high-risk, and intermediate risk patients. At each level, the cost of TAVI procedures was offset by clinical effectiveness and safety over a 15 year time horizon, and the cost per QALY gained was within normally accepted willingness to pay thresholds in Europe⁹¹. Over a 10-year time horizon, a similar favourable result for TAVI versus SAVR was found for intermediate and severe risk patients in the Australian setting⁹². In a UK study, TAVI was cost-effective versus medical management for severe aortic stenosis patients and regardless of whether a 5- or 10-year time horizon was adopted, the cost per QALY fell below a willingness to pay threshold of £20,000⁹³. This positive trend is echoed in other parts of Europe. For instance, TAVI is the treatment of choice for aortic stenosis in Germany according to data from 2015⁹⁴ and TAVR rates per million population are highest in Europe here⁹⁵. Overall, there is considerable evidence signalling that TAVI is a cost-effective intervention versus standard(s) of care in Europe and more is likely to emerge as experience with the procedure matures.

Ando et al. state that TAVI procedural costs can be reduced by avoiding perioperative complications by obtaining vascular access under ultrasound guidance, using balloon-expandable valves for those at high risk for prosthesis-patient mismatch, and use of moderate sedation⁸⁸. Care pathways can be improved by minimising intensive care unit stay, increasing early ambulation, avoiding urinary catheters, establishing clinical pathways post-TAVI, and planning for early discharge in selected patients. If achieved, the promising cost-effectiveness ratios for TAVI versus invasive valve replacement can enhanced and patient experience improved. From a cost-effectiveness point of view, the TAVI procedure's main cost is the device itself, whereas the majority of the SAVR's costs come from the ancillary aspects of undertaking open heart surgery and recovering from the procedure.



Figure 5: The role of minimally invasive procedures in supporting integrated care efforts, the example of TAVI versus SAVR⁹⁶.



In the graphic above, care pathway optimisation is achieved by shortening procedure time and length of patients' stay in hospital. Additionally, better inpatient outcomes (fewer complications), reduced workloads for staff (equipment and staff availability increased), and improvements in quality of life for patients combine to produce outcomes that support the Triple Aim. To fully embody integrated care, hospital care pathways must coordinate with other care settings to ensure patients unmet needs are served throughout the life course.



Arguments on the efficiency of TAVI versus SAVR can be supported by data on pathway / process optimisation as shown by health care worker time savings and improvements in patient experience.

One further advancement in the field of interventional cardiology and cardiovascular surgery is the incorporation of robotics, which allow the interventionalist to conduct the procedure apart from the patient. There are direct benefits to the operator who can reduce their own radiation exposure as well as prevent the orthopaedic injuries that often come with wearing heavy leaded protective gear throughout the day⁹⁷. In addition, there is some limited evidence to suggest that robotic assisted percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) may improve lesion coverage accuracy⁹⁸. Robotic interventional cardiology also has the potential for the operator to be located at different hospital sites from the patient, so called telerobotic medicine. This technology could allow remote hospitals to gain access more easily to PCI-capability and reduce door-to-balloon time. Finally, there is emerging technology that offers a hands-free ultrasound guided system for central line placement, which is a necessary step in most minimally invasive cardiac procedures. The combination of remote central line placement and robotic-assisted PCI could make it feasible for an interventionalist to work entirely remotely and operate on patients across an entire geographic region. The study REMOTE-PCI has demonstrated the feasibility of this approach, although there are numerous barriers to its practical implementation such as managing intra-procedure complications, regulatory challenges, and technological limitations with real-time display and operator-device feedback ^{97,99}.

The benefits to health systems from minimally invasive surgeries are more pronounced than ever, as hospital capacity must increase to address backlogs and waiting lists that have ballooned during the coronavirus pandemic. Reductions in length of stay and fewer complications have been documented across a range of conditions and procedures^{100–102}, indicating that minimally invasive strategies are among the most promising for improving productivity and efficiency. However, some evidence exists that demonstrates underutilisation of minimally invasive techniques in the US¹⁰³, which is a key barrier to achieving system-wide benefits in this setting. The extent to which this is the case in Europe has been explore by Ali et al., who reported severe underutilisation of TAVI in the UK setting versus several European neighbours (78 TAVI procedures per million population versus a European average of 141, and a highest rate of 292 in Germany). Poor patient access to TAVI has been linked to worse outcomes in severe aortic stenosis, raising the need for innovative pathway solutions and technologies that can raise throughput and address the burden of disease⁹⁵.

2.4 Artificial intelligence

Artificial intelligence (AI) is a ballooning area of technology that is only just starting to be applied to the field of health care. It holds the potential to revolutionize how modern medical care is conducted from R&D to bedside treatment. Natural language processing and machine learning are two key components of AI¹⁰⁴.

2.4.1 Natural language processing

Much of current health care data is stored as dictated human speech. For example, patient medical records are typed reports including their past medical history, allergies, and medications; radiographic images are interpreted as block texts by the radiologist; and treatment plans are dictated by physicians as documents. Accessing and utilizing this information is limited to the individual person that reads the text.

Natural language processing is the codifying of human language so that it can be stored, transferred, compiled, manipulated, and interpreted. As health data becomes increasingly digital, through electronic health records and health information exchanges, natural language processing offers the ability to access the wealth of information that is stored in existing health care files. Further, natural language processing allows this information to be accessed in real time to support decision making at the individual patient level as well as hospital and health system levels.



2.4.2 Predictive analytics & machine learning

Predictive analytics is the process of extracting data, interpreting this data, and then projecting an outcome. Predictive analytics is already being used in health care in limited contexts such as automated ECG interpretation. Machine learning goes one step further by feeding back the predicted outcome and the actual outcome into the process to learn on its own from experience. In conjunction with natural language processing, machine learning can facilitate the unburdening of many tasks from health care practitioners to computers. Neural networks and deep learning are further subsections within machine learning that attempt to mimic the human thought process using algorithms.

2.4.3 Applications of Al

There are numerous ways in which AI is being integrated into health care. These are some examples:

- 1) Virtual assistants: Companies such as Your.MD and Babylon Health offer patients an easily accessibly 24/7 virtual assistant that can book appointments, answer basic medical questions, and verify correct medication administration.
- 2) Radiographic interpretation: There is a growing number of AI programs that are applied to interpreting medical images, which have the potential to be more accurate, less expensive, faster, and more accessible than current human applications¹⁰⁵. For instance, one study found that their AI program using Convolutional Neural Networks had similar sensitivity in detecting concerning lung nodules on CT scans of complex lung disease compared to that of an experienced radiologist¹⁰⁶. Similarly, a recent 2021 study showed how a machine learning framework can be used to help identify distinct phenotypes of aortic stenosis with echocardiography in order to optimize the timing of aortic valve replacement¹⁰⁷.
- 3) Predicting health care outcomes: Al is being applied in risk stratification of patients and modelling patient morbidity and mortality, particularly in the field of cardiology. Tohyama *et al.* found that their machined learning-based model for predicting one year mortality of hospitalized patients with heart failure was highly accurate and more superior to conventional risk models¹⁰⁸. Similarly, Sherazi *et al.* developed a machine learning prediction model for 1 year mortality of patients discharged from hospital following acute coronary syndrome which increased the accuracy of detecting major adverse cardiovascular events in these patients¹⁰⁹. Another example is the use of Hypotension Prediction Index to guide hemodynamic treatment of patients undergoing moderate and high-risk surgery. ¹¹⁰These technologies allow clinicians to intervene earlier and offer targeted treatment options based on individual patient risks.
- 4) Drug discovery & development: AI is also well suited to tackle the massive data analytic needs of pharmaceutical drug discovery which relies on sifting through thousands of molecules to identify potential candidates for further research and development. One example of its possible application in the R&D setting is machine vision image analysis which attempts to simulate and predict molecular interaction with the purpose of further narrowing the search to the molecules with the greatest likelihood of in vitro therapeutic success¹¹¹.
- 5) Operational efficiency: There is a role for AI in improving operational and administrative efficiencies within hospitals by identifying areas that could be streamlined or improved such as patient flow bottlenecks or patients at risk for readmissions. For example, Marafino *et al.* conducted a study that used predictive analytics targeted at identifying patients at risk for readmission within 30 days of hospital discharge¹¹². This allowed for implementation of a comprehensive readmission prevention intervention that was associated with a reduction in 30-day readmission rates.

2.5 Precision medicine

Precision medicine is an integrative approach to disease management that uses patient genetics, lifestyle, and exposures as determinants of their health and illness phenotype to select and tailor treatment options¹¹³.



Precision medicine capitalizes on the forefront of patient data analytics such as genomics, transcriptomics, epigenomics, proteinomics, and metabolomics to help uncover disease phenotypes and disease relationships that can then be targeted by novel pharmacotherapeutics and inform patient specific care plans.

Oncology is a field where precision medicine is rapidly growing with the advent of immunotherapies. Traditional cancer treatments, such as surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation are relatively blunt tools that uniformly destroy healthy and cancerous cells alike. However, immunotherapies, like monoclonal antibodies, check-point inhibitors, cytokines, and CAR-T therapies, use a patient's own immune system to target and ideally attack just the mutated cancer cells¹¹⁴. This type of medical precision has further advanced with the recognition that no single cancer is identical and there is variation between cancerous mutations across individuals. Thus, the concept of precision medicine is being applied to the selection of cancer treatment programs based on individual characteristics from their demographics, genome, environmental exposures, and other predispositions. Personalized medicine is a similar concept to precision and encompasses the idea that the entire treatment pathway is tailored to a specific individual.

Precision medicine is less developed in cardiology but there is growing recognition that these modern concepts can also be applied to the field¹¹⁵. One opportunity is in the treatment of hypertension, an illness that is estimated to affect more than a quarter of the global population. Yet, antihypertensive therapies are largely based on population-level studies that do not factor in sub-group phenotypes and certainly not individual genomics. We know that there is heterogeneity in clinical response to treatments, which means that a single antihypertensive regimen will not be optimal for all individuals. In a precision medicine era, antihypertensives would be selected based on correlating a patient's pathophysiological cause for their hypertension, determined with biochemical and molecular markers, with a therapeutic strategy proven to have improved outcomes in this patient subset¹¹³. For this process to even begin there is a need for increased characterization of individual patient phenotypes, genomics, and other patient-specific information in future cardiovascular research and product development so that therapies can eventually be individually tailored. Developments in the remote monitoring of blood pressure and heart rate are instrumental to these efforts and the least disruptive forms of monitoring may have a considerable advantage. For example, an AI platform known as DocMe® uses facial recognition technology to measure blood pressure and heart rate signs using readily available cameras, such as webcams and mobile phone cameras, without the need for physical contact¹¹⁶. The application of this technology is hard to fully anticipate, but the nature of the technology raises several questions about how remote monitoring – inside and outside care settings – may revolutionise data collection in cardiovascular care.

2.5.1 Preventative health care

With the increasing prevalence of chronic illness, there is a growing role for primary prevention and screening to identify disease risk factors and early stages of treatable diseases. Examples include vaccinations, smoking cessation tools, and screening for hypertension, high blood sugar, high cholesterol, cancers (colon, cervical, and breast), and sexually transmitted infections. A recent study showed that targeted preventative health care programs are associated with decreases in prevalence of ill health which can improve sustainable growth in national productivity. However, this must be balanced with over-detection of new chronic diseases with mild severity which can result in unnecessarily longer illness duration and higher rates of ill health¹¹⁷.

Despite some evidence that runs contrary to popular wisdom that "prevention is better than cure", for example Stokes et al. 2021²⁹, interventions that can prevent exacerbations of pre-existing conditions or that can prolong years of life spent in health remain an attractive investment to payers in Europe. Uncertainty in the evidence of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of novel products or processes that support care integration and preventative interventions must be carefully managed by payers and firms. Increasingly, long-term real-world data collection is attractive because the evidence produced reduces uncertainty. In the realms of preventative health care, where the effects of interventions can take longer to manifest in a population, long-term data may be a growing necessity to achieve and maintain reimbursement.



3. Summary and recommendations

Biotechnology and medical device firms have a key role to play in developing products and processes that support health systems in their efforts to achieve the Triple Aim: improved patient experience, reduced costs, and improve population health. Current global trends suggest that the vehicle for achieving the Triple Aim is integrated care¹¹⁸, which amounts to the adoption of new policies, processes, and products at three levels of health systems: macro, meso, and micro. Connections between levels of the system must be fostered to then enable coordination of efforts between payers, providers, patients, and private firms. Innovations that demonstrate the ability to improve the coordination of (cost-effective) care that is more efficient, which manifests in improvements in health outcomes, patient experience, quality of life, costs in the short (within 90 days), medium (within two years), and long-term (within five years) are needed.

Recommendation one: as recent evidence raises more questions than answers about the effectiveness of integrated care systems, firms should develop evidence that shows how products (and accompanying changes in care processes) improve connections and coordination between carers and care settings, particularly those between primary care and secondary care. The principal factors for the success of any product are robust evidence showing an expectation of reduced resource use (and costs) and improvement in clinical and patient-reported outcomes. These measures should amount to a convincing argument for the cost-effectiveness of a new product as compared to current standards of care.

Recommendation two: in the product development plan, payers, patient groups, and providers should be engaged to ensure valid outcomes are measured over a meaningful time horizon (usually the long-term). Patient and public involvement is increasingly important to system and product design in health care and methods for gathering insight in this domain are needed. The literature does not point to a single set of operational indicators that should be used to measure the patient experience. This poses a particular challenge because there may not be consensus about data requirements. However, examples from the literature set a precedent that can be followed, and stakeholders and regulators should be approached early to establish agreement.

Recommendation three: cost-effectiveness analysis is likely to be used more often for both medical devices and non-pharmaceutical interventions, such as digital technologies, because value-based reimbursement is increasingly the payers' approach to purchasing. Frameworks for developing economic evaluations across European jurisdictions are mature and accessible. However, the way they are applied to non-pharmaceutical products, such as digital products, is young and maturing. This poses a challenge for firms who have non-pharmaceutical products, however those who innovate in this area are likely to be engaged by regulators and payers. Firms may wish to collaborate if there are potential product synergies for health system decision makers.

Recommendation four: given that the effects of integrating care can take a long time to manifest and causality may be difficult to demonstrate, the role of a technology in improving integration and coordination needs to be carefully articulated by firms. This amounts to the development of value propositions that convey logical cause and effect associated with products. There is a clear signal that integrated care is the central solution to health system challenges, despite inconsistent and immature evidence. This is reflected in global- and national-level trends towards integrated care. Private firms will maximise the likelihood of success by demonstrating how their solutions bridge gaps in care coordination, therefore facilitating the integration of systems. In conjunction with recommendation three, short, medium, and long-term outcomes should be considered for every product. Reductions in length of stay, readmission rates, and resource use remain important indicators of value. Data on improved patient experience and better health outcomes are increasingly important to the development of value propositions that link directly to the Triple Aim.



Figure 6: Schematic demonstrating the links between integrated care and health system goals.

Products / technologies can build connections between various levels and settings, amounting to (better) coordinated care; subsequent outcomes, including patient experience, expressed with economic indicators, and clinical effectiveness (encompassing broader health outcomes) should be demonstrated at relevant levels of the system (macro, meso, and micro). These indicators must show impact on the Triple Aim – enhanced experience, lower costs per capita, and improved population health. Although not mentioned explicitly, health equity is a core challenge to health systems, and it has been made more difficult following the coronavirus pandemic. Technologies that can equitably improve access to care are needed.



References

- 1. Berwick DM, Hackbarth AD. Eliminating Waste in US Health Care. *JAMA*. 2012;307(14):1513-1516. doi:10.1001/JAMA.2012.362
- 2. Shrank WH, Rogstad TL, Parekh N. Waste in the US Health Care System: Estimated Costs and Potential for Savings. *JAMA*. 2019;322(15):1501-1509. doi:10.1001/JAMA.2019.13978
- 3. OECD. *Tackling Wasteful Spending on Health.*; 2017. doi:https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264266414-en.
- 4. Chalkidou K, Appleby J. Eliminating waste in healthcare spending. *BMJ*. 2017;356. doi:10.1136/BMJ.J570
- 5. Hall H. The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on healthcare workers' mental health. *JAAPA*. 2020;33(7):45-48. doi:10.1097/01.JAA.0000669772.78848.8c
- 6. Mehta S, Machado F, Kwizera A, et al. COVID-19: a heavy toll on health-care workers. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2021;9(3):226-228. doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00068-0
- 7. DeFilippis EM, Psotka MA, Ibrahim NE. Promoting Health Equity in Heart Failure Amid a Pandemic. *JACC Heart Fail*. 2021;9(1):74-76. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2020.11.002
- 8. Blandford A, Wesson J, Amalberti R, AlHazme R, Allwihan R. Opportunities and challenges for telehealth within, and beyond, a pandemic. *Lancet Glob Heal.* 2020;8(11):e1364-e1365. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30362-4
- 9. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. The Lancet visualisations. Published 2019. Accessed November 28, 2021. https://www.thelancet.com/lancet/visualisations/gbd-compare
- 10. Vollset SE, Goren E, Yuan C-W, et al. Fertility, mortality, migration, and population scenarios for 195 countries and territories from 2017 to 2100: a forecasting analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2020;396(10258):1285-1306. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30677-2
- 11. Global age-sex-specific fertility, mortality, healthy life expectancy (HALE), and population estimates in 204 countries and territories, 1950-2019: a comprehensive demographic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2020;396(10258):1160-1203. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30977-6
- 12. Divo MJ, Martinez CH, Mannino DM. Ageing and the epidemiology of multimorbidity. *Eur Respir J.* 2014;44(4):1055 LP 1068. doi:10.1183/09031936.00059814
- 13. The Lancet. Global population in 2100. Published 2022. Accessed May 10, 2022. https://www.thelancet.com/infographics/population-forecast
- 14. Sorenson C, Drummond, Bhuiyan-Khan. Medical technology as a key driver of rising health expenditure: disentangling the relationship. *Clin Outcomes Res.* Published online May 2013:223. doi:10.2147/CEOR.S39634
- 15. Bhatt AS, Jering KS, Vaduganathan M, et al. Clinical Outcomes in Patients With Heart Failure Hospitalized With COVID-19. *JACC Heart Fail*. 2021;9(1):65-73. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2020.11.003
- 16. Doraiswamy S, Abraham A, Mamtani R, Cheema S. Use of Telehealth During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Scoping Review. *J Med Internet Res.* 2020;22(12):e24087. doi:10.2196/24087



- 17. Golinelli D, Boetto E, Carullo G, Nuzzolese AG, Landini MP, Fantini MP. Adoption of Digital Technologies in Health Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Systematic Review of Early Scientific Literature. *J Med Internet Res.* 2020;22(11):e22280. doi:10.2196/22280
- 18. Nimgaonkar V, Aggarwal C, Berman AT, et al. Impact of telemedicine adoption on accessibility and time to treatment in patients with thoracic malignancies during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Cancer*. 2021;21(1):1094. doi:10.1186/s12885-021-08819-z
- 19. Davies SC, Oxlade C. Innovate to secure the future: the future of modern medicine. *Futur Healthc J*. 2021;8(2):e251 LP-e256. doi:10.7861/fhj.2021-0087
- 20. Busse R, Stahl J. Integrated care experiences and outcomes in Germany, the Netherlands, and England. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2014;33(9):1549-1558. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0419
- 21. Zonneveld N, Driessen N, Stüssgen RAJ, Minkman MMN. Values of Integrated Care: A Systematic Review. *Int J Integr Care*. 2018;18(4):9. doi:10.5334/ijic.4172
- 22. Berwick DM, Nolan TW, Whittington J. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. *Health Aff.* 2008;27(3):759-769.
- 23. Donabedian A. The seven pillars of quality. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 1990;114(11):1115-1118.
- 24. Kruk ME, Gage AD, Arsenault C, et al. High-quality health systems in the Sustainable Development Goals era: time for a revolution. *Lancet Glob Heal*. 2018;6(11):e1196-e1252. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30386-3
- 25. Keeble E, Bardsley M, Durand MA, Hoomans T, Mays N. Area level impacts on emergency hospital admissions of the integrated care and support pioneer programme in England: difference-in-differences analysis. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(8):e026509. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026509
- 26. Baxter S, Johnson M, Chambers D, Sutton A, Goyder E, Booth A. The effects of integrated care: a systematic review of UK and international evidence. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2018;18(1):350. doi:10.1186/s12913-018-3161-3
- 27.World Health Organization. Everybody's Business Strengthening Health Systems to Improve Health
Outcomes:WHO'sFrameworkforAction.;2007.http://www.who.int/healthsystems/strategy/everybodys_business.pdf
- 28. Morciano M, Checkland K, Durand MA, Sutton M, Mays N. Comparison of the impact of two national health and social care integration programmes on emergency hospital admissions. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2021;21(1):687. doi:10.1186/s12913-021-06692-x
- 29. Stokes J, Shah V, Goldzahl L, Kristensen SR, Sutton M. Does prevention-focused integration lead to the triple aim? An evaluation of two new care models in England. *J Health Serv Res Policy*. 2020;26(2):125-132. doi:10.1177/1355819620963500
- 30. Cresswell KM, Mozaffar H, Lee L, Williams R, Sheikh A. Safety risks associated with the lack of integration and interfacing of hospital health information technologies: a qualitative study of hospital electronic prescribing systems in England. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2017;26(7):530-541. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004925
- Looman W, Struckmann V, Köppen J, et al. Drivers of successful implementation of integrated care for multi-morbidity: Mechanisms identified in 17 case studies from 8 European countries. Soc Sci Med. 2021;277:113728. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113728



- 32. Deloitte. *Digital Transformation Shaping the Future of European Healthcare.*; 2020. https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/nl/Documents/public-sector/deloitte-nl-shaping-the-future-of-european-healthcare.pdf
- 33. Mohamed MO, Banerjee A, Clarke S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on cardiac procedure activity in England and associated 30-day mortality. *Eur Hear journal Qual care Clin outcomes*. 2021;7(3):247-256. doi:10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa079
- 34. Blecker S, Jones SA, Petrilli CM, et al. Hospitalizations for Chronic Disease and Acute Conditions in the Time of COVID-19. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2021;181(2):269-271. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.3978
- 35. Sundt TM. Managing Aortic Stenosis in the Age of COVID-19: Preparing for the Second Wave. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2020;3(9):e2020368-e2020368. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.20368
- 36. Feldhaus I, Mathauer I. Effects of mixed provider payment systems and aligned cost sharing practices on expenditure growth management, efficiency, and equity: a structured review of the literature. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2018;18(1):996. doi:10.1186/s12913-018-3779-1
- 37. Struijs J, de Vries EF, A., Baan C, van Gils PF, Rosenthal MB. *Bundled-Payment Models Around the World: How They Work and What Their Impact Has Been.*; 2020. doi:https://doi.org/10.26099/936s-0y65
- 38. Hayen A, van den Berg MJ, Struijs JN, Westert (Gert) GP. Dutch shared savings program targeted at primary care: Reduced expenditures in its first year. *Health Policy (New York)*. 2021;125(4):489-494. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2021.01.013
- 39. Olde Hartman TC, Bazemore A, Etz R, et al. Developing measures to capture the true value of primary care. *BJGP open*. 2021;5(2):BJGPO.2020.0152. doi:10.3399/BJGPO.2020.0152
- 40. Karimi M, Tsiachristas A, Looman W, Stokes J, Galen M van, Rutten-van Mölken M. Bundled payments for chronic diseases increased health care expenditure in the Netherlands, especially for multimorbid patients. *Health Policy (New York)*. 2021;125(6):751-759. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2021.04.004
- 41. Goude F, Kittelsen SAC, Malchau H, Mohaddes M, Rehnberg C. The effects of competition and bundled payment on patient reported outcome measures after hip replacement surgery. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2021;21(1):387. doi:10.1186/s12913-021-06397-1
- 42. Steenhuis S, Struijs J, Koolman X, Ket J, VAN DER Hijden E. Unraveling the Complexity in the Design and Implementation of Bundled Payments: A Scoping Review of Key Elements From a Payer's Perspective. *Milbank* Q. 2020;98(1):197-222. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12438
- 43. O'Rourke B, Oortwijn W, Schuller T. The new definition of health technology assessment: A milestone in international collaboration. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care*. 2020;36(3):187-190. doi:DOI: 10.1017/S0266462320000215
- 44. Dopp AR, Kerns SEU, Panattoni L, et al. Translating economic evaluations into financing strategies for implementing evidence-based practices. *Implement Sci.* 2021;16(1):66. doi:10.1186/s13012-021-01137-9
- 45. Antonacci G, Reed JE, Lennox L, Barlow J. The use of process mapping in healthcare quality improvement projects. *Heal Serv Manag Res.* 2018;31(2):74-84. doi:10.1177/0951484818770411



- 46. Garrett Z, Imaz-Iglesia I, Willemsen A. Building a model of health technology assessment cooperation: lessons learned from EUnetHTA joint action 3. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care*. 2022;38(1):e14. doi:10.1017/S0266462321001719
- 47. Lewis D. How can virtual reality in medicine enhance the patient experience? Spineuniverse. Published 2020. Accessed November 22, 2021. https://www.spineuniverse.com/professional/news/virtual-reality-medicine-patient-experience
- 48. Roberts S, Chaboyer W, Gonzalez R, Marshall A. Using technology to engage hospitalised patients in their care: a realist review. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2017;17(1):388. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2314-0
- 49. Dwamena F, Holmes-Rovner M, Gaulden CM, et al. Interventions for providers to promote a patientcentred approach in clinical consultations. *Cochrane database Syst Rev.* 2012;12:CD003267. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003267.pub2
- 50. Arnetz JE, Winblad U, Höglund AT, et al. Is patient involvement during hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction associated with post-discharge treatment outcome? An exploratory study. *Heal Expect an Int J public Particip Heal care Heal policy*. 2010;13(3):298-311. doi:10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00588.x
- 51. Frazão TDC, Camilo DGG, Cabral ELS, Souza RP. Multicriteria decision analysis (MCDA) in health care: a systematic review of the main characteristics and methodological steps. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2018;18(1):90. doi:10.1186/s12911-018-0663-1
- 52. Ku L, Bysshe T. *The Changing Community Health Center Workforce: 2007-13.*; 2015. https://www.gwhwi.org/uploads/4/3/3/5/43358451/report_the_changing_community_health_center__8 -10-15_.pdf
- 53. Sun EC, Miller TR, Moshfegh J, Baker LC. Anesthesia Care Team Composition and Surgical Outcomes. *Anesthesiology*. 2018;129(4):700-709. doi:10.1097/ALN.00000000002275
- 54. Timmons EJ. The effects of expanded nurse practitioner and physician assistant scope of practice on the cost of Medicaid patient care. *Health Policy (New York)*. 2017;121(2):189-196. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2016.12.002
- 55. McGrath J. Report on Labour Shortages and Surpluses.; 2021.
- 56. Maier CB. Nurse prescribing of medicines in 13 European countries. *Hum Resour Health*. 2019;17(1):95. doi:10.1186/s12960-019-0429-6
- 57. World Health Organization. *State of the World's Nursing 2020: Investing in Education, Jobs and Leadership.*; 2020.
- 58. American Association of Critical-Care Nurses. Hear Us Out Campaign Reports Nurses' COVID-19 Reality.
- 59. Simcoe T, Catillon M, Gertler P. Who benefits most in disease management programs: Improving target efficiency. *Health Econ.* 2019;28(2):189-203. doi:10.1002/hec.3836
- 60. Ugolini C, Lippi Bruni M, Leucci AC, et al. Disease management in diabetes care: When involving GPs improves patient compliance and health outcomes. *Health Policy*. 2019;123(10):955-962. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2019.08.014
- 61. Bussière C, Sirven N, Rapp T, Sevilla-Dedieu C. Adherence to medical follow-up recommendations



reduces hospital admissions: Evidence from diabetic patients in France. *Health Econ.* 2020;29(4):508-522. doi:10.1002/hec.3999

- 62. Masnoon N, Shakib S, Kalisch-Ellett L, Caughey GE. What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions. *BMC Geriatr.* 2017;17(1):230. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0621-2
- 63. Elliott RA, Camacho E, Jankovic D, Sculpher MJ, Faria R. Economic analysis of the prevalence and clinical and economic burden of medication error in England. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2021;30(2):96-105. doi:10.1136/bmjgs-2019-010206
- 64. Muth C, Blom JW, Smith SM, et al. Evidence supporting the best clinical management of patients with multimorbidity and polypharmacy: a systematic guideline review and expert consensus. *J Intern Med.* 2019;285(3):272-288. doi:10.1111/joim.12842
- 65. Ray KK, Wright RS, Kallend D, et al. Two Phase 3 Trials of Inclisiran in Patients with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. *N Engl J Med*. 2020;382(16):1507-1519. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1912387
- 66. Groenewegen A, Rutten FH, Mosterd A, Hoes AW. Epidemiology of heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail.* 2020;22(8):1342-1356. doi:10.1002/ejhf.1858
- 67. Conrad N, Judge A, Tran J, et al. Temporal trends and patterns in heart failure incidence: a populationbased study of 4 million individuals. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2018;391(10120):572-580. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32520-5
- 68. Chamberlain AM, St. Sauver JL, Gerber Y, et al. Multimorbidity in Heart Failure: A Community Perspective. *Am J Med*. 2015;128(1):38-45. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.08.024
- 69. Schueler S, Silvestry SC, Cotts WG, et al. Cost-effectiveness of left ventricular assist devices as destination therapy in the United Kingdom. *ESC Hear Fail.* 2021;8(4):3049-3057. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.13401
- 70. Schmier JK, Patel JD, Leonhard MJ, Midha PA. A Systematic Review of Cost-Effectiveness Analyses of Left Ventricular Assist Devices: Issues and Challenges. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy*. 2019;17(1):35-46. doi:10.1007/s40258-018-0439-x
- 71. Park M, Giap T-T-T, Lee M, Jeong H, Jeong M, Go Y. Patient- and family-centered care interventions for improving the quality of health care: A review of systematic reviews. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2018;87:69-83. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.07.006
- 72. Valaitis R, Longaphy J, Ploeg J, et al. Health TAPESTRY: co-designing interprofessional primary care programs for older adults using the persona-scenario method. *BMC Fam Pract.* 2019;20(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/S12875-019-1013-9
- 73. Harvard Business Review Analytic Services. *Improving the Patient Experience*.; 2018. https://www.amico.com/sites/default/files/Siemens_Harvard_Business_Review_Improving_Patient_E xperience.pdf
- 74. OECD. Spending on Long-Term Care.; 2020. https://www.oecd.org/health/health-systems/Spendingon-long-term-care-Brief-November-2020.pdf
- 75. Health TLG. Mental health matters. *Lancet Glob Heal*. 2020;8(11):e1352. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30432-0
- 76. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general



population: A systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2020;277:55-64. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

- 77. Papoutsi C, Wherton J, Shaw S, Morrison C, Greenhalgh T. Putting the social back into sociotechnical: Case studies of co-design in digital health. *J Am Med Inform Assoc.* 2021;28(2):284-293. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocaa197
- 78. Lakshin G, Banek S, Keese D, Rolle U, Schmedding A. Telemedicine in the pediatric surgery in Germany during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Pediatr Surg Int*. 2021;37(3):389-395. doi:10.1007/s00383-020-04822-w
- 79. Yoon JW, Welch RL, Alamin T, et al. Remote Virtual Spinal Evaluation in the Era of COVID-19. *Int J spine Surg.* 2020;14(3):433-440. doi:10.14444/7057
- 80. Everson J, Butler E. Hospital adoption of multiple health information exchange approaches and information accessibility. *J Am Med Inform Assoc.* 2020;27(4):577-583. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocaa003
- 81. Neves AL, Freise L, Laranjo L, Carter AW, Darzi A, Mayer E. Impact of providing patients access to electronic health records on quality and safety of care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Qual Saf.* 2020;29(12):1019-1032. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2019-010581
- 82. Principi N, Silvestri E, Esposito S. Advantages and Limitations of Bacteriophages for the Treatment of Bacterial Infections. *Front Pharmacol.* 2019;10:513. doi:10.3389/fphar.2019.00513
- 83. Mullard A. FDA approves 100th monoclonal antibody product. Nature reviews drug discovery. Published 2021. https://www.nature.com/articles/d41573-021-00079-7
- 84. Yeoh SG, Sum JS, Lai JY, W Isa WYH, Lim TS. Potential of Phage Display Antibody Technology for Cardiovascular Disease Immunotherapy. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res.* Published online 2021. doi:10.1007/s12265-021-10169-x
- 85. Zhang Q, Lu W, Liang C-L, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) Treg: A Promising Approach to Inducing Immunological Tolerance. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:2359. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02359
- 86. Faries CM, Sengupta A, Alexis SL, et al. Transcatheter Tricuspid and Pulmonary Valve Repair and Replacement. *Surg Technol Int.* 2020;36:217-223.
- Kuntjoro I, Tay E, Hon J, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation in Intermediate and Low Risk Severe Aortic Stenosis Patients in Singapore. *Ann Acad Med Singapore*. 2020;49(7):423-433.
- Ando T, Adegbala O, Villablanca PA, et al. Predictors of Hospital Cost After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation in the United States: From the Nationwide Inpatient Sample Database. *Am J Cardiol.* 2019;123(7):1142-1148. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.12.044
- Gilard M, Eltchaninoff H, lung B, et al. Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of SAPIEN 3 Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation Procedure Compared With Surgery in Patients With Severe Aortic Stenosis at Low Risk of Surgical Mortality in France. *Value Heal J Int Soc Pharmacoeconomics Outcomes Res.* 2022;25(4):605-613. doi:10.1016/j.jval.2021.10.003
- 90. Mennini FS, Meucci F, Pesarini G, et al. Cost-effectiveness of transcatheter aortic valve implantation versus surgical aortic valve replacement in low surgical risk aortic stenosis patients. *Int J Cardiol.* 2022;357:26-32. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2022.03.034
- 91. Lorenzoni V, Barbieri G, Saia F, et al. The cost-effectiveness of transcatheter aortic valve implantation:



exploring the Italian National Health System perspective and different patient risk groups. *Eur J Heal Econ HEPAC Heal Econ Prev care*. 2021;22(9):1349-1363. doi:10.1007/s10198-021-01314-z

- 92. Zhou J, Liew D, Duffy SJ, Walton A, Htun N, Stub D. Cost-effectiveness of transcatheter aortic valve implantation compared to surgical aortic valve replacement in the intermediate surgical risk population. *Int J Cardiol.* 2019;294:17-22. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.06.057
- 93. Brecker S, Mealing S, Padhiar A, et al. Cost-utility of transcatheter aortic valve implantation for inoperable patients with severe aortic stenosis treated by medical management: a UK cost-utility analysis based on patient-level data from the ADVANCE study. *Open Hear.* 2014;1(1):e000155. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2014-000155
- 94. Kaier K, von zur Mühlen C, Zirlik A, et al. Estimating the additional costs per life saved due to transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a secondary data analysis of electronic health records in Germany. *Eur J Heal Econ.* 2019;20(4):625-632. doi:10.1007/s10198-018-1023-x
- 95. Ali N, Faour A, Rawlins J, et al. "Valve for Life": tackling the deficit in transcatheter treatment of heart valve disease in the UK. *Open Hear*. 2021;8(1). doi:10.1136/openhrt-2020-001547
- 96. Mack MJ, Leon MB, Thourani VH, et al. Transcatheter Aortic-Valve Replacement with a Balloon-Expandable Valve in Low-Risk Patients. *N Engl J Med.* 2019;380(18):1695-1705. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1814052
- 97. Maor E, Eleid MF, Gulati R, Lerman A, Sandhu GS. Current and Future Use of Robotic Devices to Perform Percutaneous Coronary Interventions: A Review. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2021;6(7):e006239. doi:10.1161/JAHA.117.006239
- 98. Campbell PT, Kruse KR, Kroll CR, Patterson JY, Esposito MJ. The impact of precise robotic lesion length measurement on stent length selection: ramifications for stent savings. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med.* 2015;16(6):348-350. doi:10.1016/j.carrev.2015.06.005
- 99. Madder RD, VanOosterhout SM, Jacoby ME, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention using a combination of robotics and telecommunications by an operator in a separate physical location from the patient: an early exploration into the feasibility of telestenting (the REMOTE-PCI study). *EuroIntervention J Eur Collab with Work Gr Interv Cardiol Eur Soc Cardiol.* 2017;12(13):1569-1576. doi:10.4244/EIJ-D-16-00363
- 100. Yan J-F, Pan Y, Chen K, Zhu H-P, Chen Q-L. Minimally invasive pancreatoduodenectomy is associated with lower morbidity compared to open pancreatoduodenectomy: An updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials and high-quality nonrandomized studies. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2019;98(32):e16730. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000016730
- 101. Poston RS, Tran R, Collins M, et al. Comparison of economic and patient outcomes with minimally invasive versus traditional off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting techniques. *Ann Surg.* 2008;248(4):638-646. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e31818a15b5
- 102. Low ZX, Bonney GK, So JBY, Loh DL, Ng JJ. Laparoscopic versus open appendectomy in pediatric patients with complicated appendicitis: a meta-analysis. *Surg Endosc*. 2019;33(12):4066-4077. doi:10.1007/s00464-019-06709-x
- 103. Cooper MA, Hutfless S, Segev DL, Ibrahim A, Lyu H, Makary MA. Hospital level under-utilization of minimally invasive surgery in the United States: retrospective review. *BMJ*. 2014;349:g4198. doi:10.1136/bmj.g4198



- 104. Deloitte. The Future of Artificial Intelligence in Health Care.; 2019. https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/life-sciences-and-health-care/articles/future-of-artificialintelligence-in-health-care.html
- 105. Malamateniou C, Knapp KM, Pergola M, Woznitza N, Hardy M. Artificial intelligence in radiography: Where are we now and what does the future hold? *Radiogr (London, Engl 1995)*. 2021;27 Suppl 1:S58-S62. doi:10.1016/j.radi.2021.07.015
- 106. Abadia AF, Yacoub B, Stringer N, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy and Performance of Artificial Intelligence in Detecting Lung Nodules in Patients With Complex Lung Disease: A Noninferiority Study. *J Thorac Imaging*. Published online August 2021. doi:10.1097/RTI.000000000000613
- 107. Sengupta PP, Shrestha S, Kagiyama N, et al. A Machine-Learning Framework to Identify Distinct Phenotypes of Aortic Stenosis Severity. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2021;14(9):1707-1720. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmg.2021.03.020
- 108. Tohyama T, Ide T, Ikeda M, et al. Machine learning-based model for predicting 1 year mortality of hospitalized patients with heart failure. *ESC Hear Fail*. 2021;8(5):4077-4085. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.13556
- 109. Sherazi SWA, Jeong YJ, Jae MH, Bae J-W, Lee JY. A machine learning-based 1-year mortality prediction model after hospital discharge for clinical patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Health Informatics J.* 2020;26(2):1289-1304. doi:10.1177/1460458219871780
- 110. Maheshwari K, Shimada T, Fang J, et al. Hypotension Prediction Index software for management of hypotension during moderate- to high-risk noncardiac surgery: protocol for a randomized trial. *Trials*. 2019;20(1):255. doi:10.1186/s13063-019-3329-0
- 111. Ekins S. The Next Era: Deep Learning in Pharmaceutical Research. *Pharm Res.* 2016;33(11):2594-2603. doi:10.1007/s11095-016-2029-7
- 112. Marafino BJ, Escobar GJ, Baiocchi MT, Liu VX, Plimier CC, Schuler A. Evaluation of an intervention targeted with predictive analytics to prevent readmissions in an integrated health system: observational study. *BMJ*. 2021;374:n1747. doi:10.1136/bmj.n1747
- 113. Leopold JA, Loscalzo J. Emerging Role of Precision Medicine in Cardiovascular Disease. *Circ Res.* 2018;122(9):1302-1315. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310782
- 114. Krzyszczyk P, Acevedo A, Davidoff EJ, et al. The growing role of precision and personalized medicine for cancer treatment. *Technology*. 2018;6(3-4):79-100. doi:10.1142/S2339547818300020
- 115. Antman EM, Harrington RA. Transforming clinical trials in cardiovascular disease: mission critical for health and economic well-being. *Jama*. 2012;308(17):1743-1744.
- 116. DocMe. Published 2021. https://www.docme.ai/
- 117. Wang F, Wang J-D. Investing preventive care and economic development in ageing societies: empirical evidences from OECD countries. *Health Econ Rev.* 2021;11(1):18. doi:10.1186/s13561-021-00321-3
- 118. World Health Organization. Continuity and Coordination of Care: A Practice Brief to Support Implementation of the WHO Framework on Integrated People-Centred Health Services.; 2018. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241514033